COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT

Between:	
And:	THE SIMCOE MUSKOKA DISTRICT HEALTH UNIT [hereinafter referred to as the "Employer"]

ONTARIO NURSES' ASSOCIATION [hereinafter referred to as the "Union"]

Expiry Date: December 31, 2025

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE	PAGE
ARTICLE 1 - PURPOSE	1
ARTICLE 2 – RECOGNITION	
ARTICLE 3 – DEFINITIONS	
ARTICLE 4 - NO DISCRIMINATION	
ARTICLE 5 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	
ARTICLE 6 – ASSOCIATION REPRESENTATION	
ARTICLE 7 – ASSOCIATION SECURITY	4
ARTICLE 8 – GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	5
ARTICLE 9 – ARBITRATION	7
ARTICLE 10 – ACCESS TO FILES AND DISCIPLINE	7
ARTICLE 11 – SENIORITY	
ARTICLE 12 - TRANSFER SYSTEM	12
ARTICLE 13 - HOURS OF WORK, ON-CALL AND COMPENSATING TIME	13
ARTICLE 14 - FLEX TIME	15
ARTICLE 15 - LEAVE OF ABSENCE	
ARTICLE 16 - PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT AND EDUCATIONAL PROGRAM	23
ARTICLE 17 - SALARIES AND PROFESSIONAL CLASSIFICATION	24
ARTICLE 18 - PAID HOLIDAYS	25
ARTICLE 19 - VACATION	27
ARTICLE 20 - SICK LEAVE	29
ARTICLE 21 – BENEFITS	
ARTICLE 22 – TRANSPORTATION	33
ARTICLE 23 – MISCELLANEOUS	
ARTICLE 24 - COURT ATTENDANCE	
ARTICLE 25 - DURATION OF AGREEMENT	35
SCHEDULE "A"	
SALARY SCHEDULE	
SCHEDULE "B"	37
BENEFITS	
APPENDIX "C"	
GENERAL GUIDELINES FOR BUSINESS USE OF PRIVATE VEHICLES	_
APPENDIX "D"	
ADMINISTRATION OF ARTICLES: 15:03; 15.04 AND 15:05	
LETTERS OF UNDERSTANDING	
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING	_
RE: JOB SHARING	43
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING	44
RE: NEW GRADUATE GUARANTEE	
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING	45
RE: INCIDENT MANAGEMENT SYSTEM (IMS)	45
RE: COMPRESSED WORK WEEK PILOT PROGRAM	45
SIGNING PAGE	46

ARTICLE 1 – PURPOSE

1.01 The general purpose of this Agreement is to establish mutually satisfactory employment relations between the Employer and the Union. It provides a means for the settlement of grievances and for the final settlement of disputes. Salaries, hours of work and other conditions of employment are established by mutual agreement. It is recognized that nurses wish to work co-operatively with the Employer to provide the best possible community health services.

ARTICLE 2 – RECOGNITION

- 2.01 The Employer recognizes the Union as the exclusive bargaining agent for all registered and graduate nurses employed by the Employer save and except Program Managers and persons above this classification.
- 2.02 All references to officers, representatives and committee members in this Agreement shall be deemed to mean officers, representatives, and committee members of the duly chartered local.

ARTICLE 3 – DEFINITIONS

3.01 Full-Time Nurse

A nurse who is hired on a permanent basis and who normally works seven (7) hours per day on a thirty-five (35) hour week, normally Monday to Friday unless specifically hired to work an alternate schedule.

3.02 Part-Time Nurse

A nurse who is hired on a permanent basis and who normally works up to seven (7) hours per day, but less than thirty-five (35) hours per week, normally Monday to Friday, unless specifically hired to work an alternate schedule.

3.03 <u>Temporary Nurse</u>

- (a) A nurse who works on a replacement basis for a temporary period of time due to an absence of a permanent full time or permanent part-time nurse for reasons such as maternity leave, adoption leave, parental leave, leave of absence, sickness and vacation or
- (b) A nurse who is regularly assigned to work the normal hours of work per week of either a permanent full time nurse (35 hours per week) or a permanent part time nurse (less than 35 hours per week). Such

temporary period shall not exceed twelve (12) months' duration except by mutual agreement of the employer and the Union. Such agreement shall not be unreasonably withheld.

(c) There shall be no retroactivity or credit for previous hours worked in (b). Accordingly, all nurses currently working under (b), or hired on a casual term and task basis, or hired as a casual, and on staff as of the date of ratification, shall have their twelve (12) month time duration in (b) commence as of the date of ratification of the 2023 Collective Agreement.

Casual Nurse

A nurse who is required to work on an irregular basis (called in as needed) and whose hours may not be predictable over an indefinite period of time.

The above temporary definition will not apply to current or future employees who have a hire letter from SMDHU hiring them as a casual as needed employee.

ARTICLE 4 – NO DISCRIMINATION

- 4.01 The Employer and Union agree that there shall be no discrimination on account of race, ancestry, place of origin, colour, ethnic origin, citizenship, creed, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, gender expression, age, record of offences, marital status, family status, or disability practiced against any nurse.
- 4.02 (a) The Employer agrees to take all reasonable measures to provide a working environment free from sexual harassment and harassment as provided for under the *Occupational Health and Safety Act of Ontario*.
 - (b) Sexual harassment is defined as:
 - i) inappropriate touching, including touching which is expressed to be unwanted:
 - ii) suggestive remarks or other verbal abuse with a sexual connotation:
 - iii) compromising invitation;
 - iv) repeated or persistent leering at a person's body;
 - v) demands for sexual favours.

(c)

- i) The nurse will take up a complaint with the Employer for any complaints as provided for herein Article 4. The nurse shall be entitled to be accompanied by a Union representative.
- ii) The Employer will investigate and take appropriate action with utmost confidentiality and dispatch.
- iii) In the event a nurse's complaint is not resolved satisfactory to them, they shall have the right to initiate a grievance at Step #3.

<u>ARTICLE 5 – MANAGEMENT RIGHTS</u>

- The Union acknowledges that, except as expressly modified by any other article in the Collective Agreement, it is the exclusive function of the Employer to manage and direct its operations and affairs in all respects and, without limiting or restricting that function:
 - (a) To maintain order, discipline and efficiency, and to make, alter and enforce reasonable rules and regulations to be observed by the nurses;
 - (b) To hire and retire in accordance with Board policy, classify, direct, assign, promote, demote, transfer, discipline, suspend and discharge nurses, and to increase and decrease the number of nurses in the employ, provided that a claim by a nurse of improper retirement, classification, transfer, demotion, discipline or suspension may become the subject of a grievance and be dealt with as hereinafter provided;
 - (c) To determine the number and location of the Employer's establishments, the services to be rendered, the methods, the work procedures, the kinds and locations of equipment to be used, the selection and use of materials required by the Employer, and the scheduling of work and services performed and provided in the conduct of its operations.

<u>ARTICLE 6 – ASSOCIATION REPRESENTATION</u>

6.01 The Employer will recognize a Negotiations Committee of up to four (4) Union representatives. Meetings of this committee and Employer representatives will be held at the request of either party at a mutually

agreeable time. A representative of the Ontario Nurses' Association may attend all meetings in addition to the four (4) Union representatives.

- 6.02 The Employer will also recognize a Grievance Committee of up to three (3) Union members. This committee shall operate and conduct itself in accordance with the provisions of this Collective Agreement.
- The Employer will recognize an ONA Management Labour Relations Committee of up to four (4) Union members and up to four (4) Vice Presidents, with a purpose as published in the Terms of Reference for such Committee which are reviewed annually and mutually agreed upon by both parties.

It is understood that workload and nurses' professional standards as per the College of Nurses are an appropriate subject for this committee.

- The Employer will pay such representatives at their respective salaries for all regular time lost in investigating or processing grievances and in negotiating renewals of the Agreement and while attending meetings with the Employer.
- 6.05 The Employer agrees to allow a representative of the Union thirty (30) minutes during regular working hours to interview newly hired nurses. Membership forms may be provided by the Union during this interview.

ARTICLE 7 - ASSOCIATION SECURITY

- 7.01 The Employer will deduct, on a monthly basis, the monthly Union dues from the pay due to each nurse who is covered by this agreement. In addition, the Employer agrees to deduct such dues amount as it is advised by the Union, for any nurse who so requests, for the purposes of membership in the Registered Nurses' Association of Ontario (R.N.A.O.). Such deduction shall be forwarded in accordance with the advice received from the Union.
- 7.02 The Union shall notify the Employer in writing of the amount of such dues. The Employer will send to the Ontario Nurses' Association, Business Office, once each month its' cheque for the dues deducted under this clause.
- 7.03 The Employer shall also mail to the Ontario Nurses' Association, Business Office, together with the above, post marked not later than the twentieth (20th) of the following month a list showing the names, social insurance numbers of all nurses covered by this Agreement who had received a pay cheque on the pay date of the said deduction and will include notation of deletions and additions to the list from the previous month, and reasons for such changes including LOA's, new hires and terminations.

7.04 The Union shall indemnify and save the Employer harmless with respect to all dues so deducted and remitted. The Union agrees to indemnify and save harmless the Employer against any claims or liabilities arising or resulting from the operation of this Article.

<u>ARTICLE 8 – GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE</u>

- 8.01 The Employer acknowledges that a member, or members, have a right to Union representation where it is deemed necessary by the member(s).
- 8.02 Parties to the agreement believe that it is important to adjust complaints and grievances as quickly as possible. Notwithstanding any provision contained in the Article, any nurse and/or the Union may present a complaint at any time without recourse to the formal written procedure described herein.
- In the event of a complaint by a nurse covered by this Agreement that they have been discriminated against, has suffered intimidation, restriction, or coercion, has been discharged or disciplined without just cause or has been otherwise dealt with unjustly, pertaining to the specific provisions of this Agreement, they may file a grievance against the Employer.

All grievances shall be in writing and shall contain a statement of the facts giving rise to the grievance and shall be filed in accordance with the procedure outlined in this Article. The following shall be the procedure in processing and handling grievances:

Step No. 1

The nurse and/or representative of the Union shall take the matter up with the person to whom they report directly, within thirty (30) working days after the circumstance giving rise to the grievance has occurred and the person to whom they report directly shall give their decision in writing within five (5) working days of receipt of the grievance or a length of time agreed upon by both parties.

Step No. 2

If the grievance is not settled at Step No. 1, the nurse and/or a representative of the Union may, within ten (10) working days of the date of receiving the answer of the person to whom they report directly (or if no answer is received under Step No. 1, then within ten (10) working days after such answer ought to have been received) refer the grievance to the Program Vice President and the Program Vice President shall give a

decision in writing within ten (10) working days of receipt of the grievance or a length of time agreed upon by both parties.

Step No. 3

If the grievance is not settled at Step No. 2, the Grievance Committee may, within ten (10) working days of the date of receiving the answer of the Program Vice President [or if no answer is received under Step 2 then within ten (10) working days after such answer ought to have been received] refer the grievance to the Medical Officer of Health who shall meet with the Grievance Committee and appropriate senior management staff within ten (10) working days of the referral, The Medical Officer of Health shall render their decision in writing within ten (10) working days of such meeting. If the grievance is not settled at Step No. 3, the Union may refer the grievance to arbitration.

NOTE: Any of the time allowances provided may be extended by mutual agreement between the parties.

8.04 In the event a nurse is discharged, and it is considered that an injustice has been done, the matter may be taken up as a grievance at Step No. 3 of the Grievance Procedures.

8.05 <u>Policy Grievance</u>

The Union or the Employer may institute a grievance arising directly between the Employer and the Union concerning the interpretation application or alleged violation of this Agreement within twenty (20) working days after the circumstances giving rise to the grievance have occurred. Such grievance shall be originated under Step No. 3. The non grieving party shall give its decision in writing within ten (10) working days after the meeting and failing settlement, will be referred to arbitration by either party.

8.06 Discipline Grievance

Should the Employer discharge, suspend or discipline any nurse(s), the Employer shall advise the nurse(s) that they have the right to have a nurse representative present. If requested by the nurse, the notification shall be made in the presence of the nurse representative. The nurse(s) and the Union will be provided with written reasons for discharge, suspension or discipline. Should the nurse(s) or the Union wish to file a grievance against this action it shall be reduced to writing and filed within fifteen (15) working days under Step 3 of the grievance procedure.

ARTICLE 9 – ARBITRATION

Where a difference arises between the parties relating to the interpretation, application or administration of the Agreement including any question as to whether a matter is arbitrable, or where an allegation is made that this Agreement has been violated, either of the parties may, after exhausting the Grievance Procedures established by this Agreement, notify the other party in writing of its desire to submit the difference or allegation to arbitration and the notice shall contain the name of the first (1st) party's appointee to an Arbitration Board. The recipient of the notice shall within three (3) days inform the other party of the name of its appointee to the Arbitration Board. The two (2) appointees so selected shall, within five (5) days of the appointment of the second [2nd] of them appoint an arbitrator, or if the appointee fails to agree upon a Chairman within the time limited, the appointment shall be made by the Minister of Labour for Ontario upon request of either party.

The Arbitration Board shall hear and determine the difference or allegation and shall issue a decision and the decision is final and binding upon the parties and upon any nurse affected by it. The decision of the majority is the decision of the Arbitration Board, but if there is no majority, the decision of the Chairman governs.

9.02 The Arbitration Board shall not have any authority to alter or change any of the provisions of the Agreement or to substitute any new provisions in lieu thereof, or to give any decision contrary to the express intent or terms and conditions of this Agreement, or in any way modify, add to or detract from any provision of this Agreement.

Each of the parties to this Agreement will pay the fees and disbursements of its appointee to the Arbitration Board and will share equally the fees and disbursements of the Chairman.

9.03 Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, grievances may be settled by confirming the Employer's action or by any other arrangement which is just and equitable in the opinion of the parties or the Arbitration Board.

<u>ARTICLE 10 – ACCESS TO FILES AND DISCIPLINE</u>

10.01 (a) A written evaluation of the nurse's work by the person to whom they report directly will be discussed with each nurse before completion of probationary period and kept in the nurse's file, and thereafter, a written evaluation will be discussed with all nurses regularly in accordance with the Health Unit's Policy and Procedure regarding

personnel evaluations. A nurse shall be given a copy of their evaluation.

(b) If any letter of reprimand, suspension or other sanction is to be placed on the nurse's record, the Employer shall give written particulars of such letter to the nurse with a copy sent to the Union if so requested in writing by the nurse.

Such report shall be removed from the nurse's record after a period of eighteen (18) months provided that the nurse's record has been discipline free for twelve (12) months.

- (c) Upon request, a nurse may review their file and receive a copy of anything in their file.
- 10.02 (a) Upon employment, or change of status, a nurse shall receive a letter of hire which contains information pertaining to salary, classification, the program and the office location to which the nurse is assigned, home address and date of employment.

The nurse shall sign back the letter acknowledging acceptance of employment. A copy of this acceptance letter shall be given to the Union.

The Employer shall provide the Union with a copy of the notice of termination if the nurse's employment should terminate for any reason.

- (b) The Employer will conduct an exit interview with each nurse who is leaving the employ of the Health Unit. During the exit interview, the nurse will be provided with documentation confirming their recent and related experience.
- 10.03 A nurse may request a letter of reference and the Employer shall comply.

ARTICLE 11 – SENIORITY

- 11.01 For all provisions of this Agreement, seniority shall commence and accumulate from the date on which a nurse was last employed by the Employer and shall be recorded in number of hours paid.
- A newly employed nurse shall be considered a probationary nurse until they have completed nine hundred and ten hours (910) continuous service. Time spent in a temporary position, provided it is not interrupted by a break of more than one month, will count towards completion of the probationary period.

Subject to mutual written agreement of the employer, Union and nurse, the probationary period may be extended up to an additional four hundred and fifty-five (455) hours.

Casual nurses will serve a probationary period that is no more than six (6) months in duration.

A seniority list of nurses categorized by permanent, probationary, temporary and casual nurses showing each nurse's name and professional category and revised yearly as to length of service shall be sent to the Union by March 1st of each year and immediately prior to any layoff. The list shall be settled by the Employer and the Union by the 15th of April in each and every year.

11.04 Lay off and Recall

- (a) In the event it becomes necessary to reduce the number of nurses covered by the Collective Agreement, for whatever reasons, the following criteria shall apply:
 - i) Probationary nurses in the program(s) where layoffs will occur shall be the first laid off. Casual and temporary nurses shall not be utilized if a permanent qualified nurse is on lay-off and has indicated in writing a willingness to be recalled to the available work. It is not the intent to maintain probationary employees while qualified permanent employees are on lay off.
 - ii) In the event of a layoff, nurses in the program affected shall be laid off in the reverse order of seniority.
 - iii) A nurse who is to be laid off/bumped may elect, in the presence of a local Union representative, one of the following options:
 - 1) to accept the layoff and await recall; or
 - 2) To opt to retire or resign; or
 - 3) elect placement into an available vacancy with the agreement of the Union, provided that they are qualified to perform the available work, or
 - 4) accept an employer reduction in their hours of work in lieu of a layoff with the agreement of the Union including written confirmation of the duration of such reduction of hours; or

- displace another nurse in a program who has lesser bargaining unit seniority and who is the least senior nurse in the program whose work the nurse who is subject to layoff/bumping is qualified to perform. It is understood that a nurse on layoff may bump either a permanent full-time nurse or permanent part-time nurse subject to the preceding.
- 6) For clarification purposes, only Nurses registered with the College of Nurses of Ontario as a Nurse Practitioner may bump or be recalled to Nurse Practitioner positions. Only current degreed Public Health Nurses may bump or be recalled to Public Health Nurse or Registered Nurse positions. Only Registered Nurses may bump or be recalled to Registered Nurse positions unless they also have the required formal educational qualifications of a degreed Public Health Nurse.
- iv) Nurses may be recalled to temporary or casual work from layoff that they are qualified for in order of their seniority from the permanent nurses seniority list. Upon conclusion of the temporary or casual recall work the nurse shall return to lay off.
- v) The employer shall notify the nurse by registered mail at the last recorded address by the Employer and the nurse shall notify the Employer within ten (10) calendar days from the date of mailing of their intention to return and if the recall is accepted to actually return to work within those ten (10) calendar days.
- vi) When a vacancy occurs in a position following a lay-off/bump that a nurse is displaced from the nurse who vacated the position as a result of the lay-off/bump process shall be offered the opportunity to return to their former position provided such vacancy occurs within one hundred and eighty (180) days from their effective date of lay off, unless the nurse elects otherwise.
- (b) In the event of a proposed lay-off, the Employer shall provide the Union with at least ninety (90) days' notice and shall meet with the Union to review the reasons for the lay-off. During such meeting the Union will be provided with the general details regarding the anticipated impact of the proposed lay-off on its members, any geographical impact, such as closures, the anticipated timeline related to individual notices of layoff; and the expected effective date of the lay-off. It is duly noted that the foregoing may need to be adjusted as needed during the process due to the Health Unit's operational requirements.

In addition to the foregoing, the Employer will provide a list of qualifications required for bumping and recall into a program requiring any specialized

training, experience or skills. The Union reserves the right to dispute the reasonableness of such required qualifications. The Employer will also identify any barriers to bumping such as restrictions where there are bona fide medical accommodations or limits on the number of nurses who may bump into a program.

- (c) Any new vacancies, as determined by the Employer, that are not a result of the lay off and bumping will be posted in accordance with the collective agreement unless otherwise mutually agreed between the parties.
- (d) Notwithstanding the above displacement, placement and recall procedures, the Employer and the Union may at any time mutually agree to formulate special measures to modify either the above protocols in order to take into account the desires of the parties to minimize the impact of displacement or to deal with particular operational considerations.
- (e) The parties agree that should there be any conflict between the collective agreement, and this mutually agreed upon protocol document specifically negotiated to address layoffs, bumping, placements and recall, this protocol document shall prevail.
- 11.05 Seniority shall be retained and accumulated when a nurse is absent from work under the following circumstances:
 - (a) when on parenting leave;
 - (b) approved leave of absence with pay;
 - (c) when in receipt of WSIB benefits for a period of two (2) years;
 - (d) when a nurse is off work due to illness for a period of two (2) years.

NOTE: This clause shall be interpreted in a manner consistent with the *Ontario Human Rights Code* and the *Employment Standards Act*.

- 11.06 Seniority shall be retained but not accumulated when a nurse is absent from work under the following circumstances:
 - (a) When a nurse is laid off due to reduction in nursing staff for a period of twenty-four (24) months after which all seniority rights cease to exist.
 - (b) When a nurse accepts a position outside of the bargaining unit and is returned to a position in the bargaining unit, they shall be credited with the seniority held at the time of transfer and resume accumulation from the date of their return to the Bargaining Unit,

provided they return to the bargaining unit within twenty-four (24) months, unless mutually agreed between the Union and the Employer.

A nurse out of the bargaining unit must return for sixty (60) days before starting a new role outside of the bargaining unit, unless mutually agreed between the Union and the Employer.

- (c) When a nurse is on a leave of absence without pay up to two (2) years after which all seniority rights cease to exist.
- (d) When a nurse is in receipt of WSIB benefits in excess of two (2) years.
- (e) When a nurse is off work due to illness in excess of two (2) years.
- 11.07 Seniority shall be lost when a nurse is absent from work under the following circumstances:
 - (a) resignation.
 - (b) discharged for just cause and not reinstated.
- 11.08 If a nurse resigns and is rehired within a one hundred and eighty (180) day period, they shall not lose their place on the salary grid and the seniority list.

ARTICLE 12 – TRANSFER SYSTEM

- 12.01 All positions/vacancies shall be posted on the Health Unit intranet/internet for ten (10) working days.
 - (a) For a permanent position/vacancy, temporary and casual nurses may not be considered for the position if a permanent nurse applies.
 - (b) When a position/vacancy is posted which will not exceed one (1) year, the subsequent position/vacancy created by filling this posting may be filled at the Employer's discretion without reference to Article 12.02. When a position/vacancy, resulting from a leave of absence or special project, is posted which is at least six (6) months in duration, permanent employees, if accepted to fill the position, will not lose their permanent status, and will be returned to their previous position at the expiration of the assignment.
- 12.02 In cases where performance, ability and qualifications are approximately equal, seniority shall be the deciding factor when decisions are made with regard to promotion, transfer or demotion.

- 12.03 A transfer system will be established for full-time and part-time positions. Under such a system, any nurse will be able to advise Human Resources in writing, indicating their interest in working in another program and/or office of the Health Unit and the application will be considered when a full-time or permanent part-time vacancy occurs. Such transfer request shall only be considered as part of the job posting process. Applications will be retained until December 31st of each year.
- 12.04 A nurse will not be transferred permanently to another office or program of the Health Unit except by mutual consent.
- A nurse wanting to exchange a position or FTE between or within a program may advise the Bargaining Unit President in writing, indicating their interest in working in another program and/or geographic location of the Health Unit. The Bargaining Unit President will then notify staff in the program requested, to determine if there is a nurse that would like to switch programs. The Bargaining Unit President will contact the Director(s) of the service(s) indicating the program changes being requested and examine the feasibility of the possible exchange. If more than one (1) request is received, seniority will be the deciding factor.
- 12.06 A nurse hired into a permanent position, or who has accepted a transfer into a permanent position will not be considered for a subsequent permanent vacancy until after they have served six (6) months in their current position.

A nurse hired into a temporary or casual position must complete six (6) months of the temporary or casual position before applying to another temporary or casual position. This does not restrict a temporary or casual nurse from applying for any permanent position vacancy.

ARTICLE 13 - HOURS OF WORK, ON-CALL AND COMPENSATING TIME

13.01 The normal working hours of nurses are 8:30 to 4:30 Monday to Friday except for nurses hired on an alternate work schedule.

All employees are entitled to a paid rest period of fifteen (15) minutes duration for every three and one-half (3 $\frac{1}{2}$) hours of work excluding a minimum of one-half ($\frac{1}{2}$) hour unpaid meal period after working no more than five (5) hours.

13.02 On-Call

(a) A nurse who is required to remain available for duty on standby outside their regularly scheduled working hours shall receive standby

pay in the amount of three dollars and fifty cents (\$3.50) for each hour scheduled by the Employer.

The rate of standby pay for the twenty-four (24) hour period covering a paid holiday will be five dollars (\$5.00) per hour.

(b) Where a nurse is called in to work when scheduled on call, they shall be paid their regular straight time hourly rate for a minimum guarantee of four (4) hours pay or time and one-half (1½) their regular straight time hourly rate for all hours worked, whichever is greater.

NOTE #1: The time in Articles 13.02 (b) includes travel time.

NOTE #2:

For nurses scheduled as per the inspection on-call team, for periods of more than one (1) consecutive shift, the four (4) hour minimum will be cumulative over the entire scheduled standby period to a maximum of seven (7) consecutive days. For purposes of clarification, a nurse assigned to seven (7) consecutive days of standby shall record actual call back time over the seven (7) day period and apply Article 13.02 (b) accordingly.

- (c) Where a permanent nurse has completed their regular scheduled hours or is on a regular scheduled day off, and has left the health unit and is called back in to work with less than eight (8) hours' notice, compensation shall be in accordance with 13.02 (b).
- 13.03 (a) When a nurse works in the excess of seven (7) hours per day from Monday to Friday, when assigned by the Employer the hours worked shall be regarded as compensating time and accumulated at straight time. Compensating time off shall be scheduled as per Article 13.04 This does not apply to casual nurses who will be paid for all hours worked.
 - (b) All nurses will be compensated (compensating time or paid) for no less than four (4) hours on a Saturday or Sunday at the nurses straight time rate plus paid a premium of three dollars and fifty cents (\$3.50) per hour.
- Nurses shall be allowed to accumulate and use compensating time as defined in Article 13.03 to a maximum of seventy (70) hours at any one (1) time. The nurse's request in writing must be submitted at least two (2) weeks in advance of the proposed compensating time being taken. However, nurses may be allowed to take compensating time of less than thirty-five (35) hours at a time mutually agreed to by the nurse and the

Employer, except that use of up to seven (7) hours simply requires advice to the Employer. Any accumulated balance of compensating time will be frozen at the end of December and must be taken by March 31st of the following year. Time taken during January, February and March will be deducted from the frozen balance until depleted. In the event the nurse requests use of their compensating time carried over from the previous year and the employer is unable to grant the requested time off, then any remaining balance at the end of March 31st will be paid at the rate of one and a half (1 ½) times the nurse's straight time hourly rate. A separate running balance will be started with time accumulated beginning on January 1st of each year. At no time will coverage be less than that established as a minimum by the Employer without the approval of the Employer.

13.05 <u>Part-Time Nurse</u>

- A) Permanent part time nurses will be offered additional work within their program area up to thirty-five (35) hours per week based on seniority on the finalized seniority list posted on April 15th of the current calendar year, where they so indicate their availability to their manager.
- B) Once A above has been completed all offers of additional work will be made to permanent part-time nurses who are qualified and have the present ability to perform the work within the given program based on seniority, prior to offering work to temporary or casual nurses.
- Any cancellation of a scheduled shift with less than twelve (12) hours' notice will not result in loss of pay to the nurse for their schedule hours of work on that day. The employer's obligation is only to notify the nurse and not to ensure such notification was received or acknowledged. Notwithstanding, this Article will not apply if the employer is unable to provide work for causes beyond, the employer's control. However, the nurse and their direct supervisor may discuss the possible available work options which may allow the nurse to maintain their pay.

ARTICLE 14 – FLEX TIME

14.01 Flexible Working Schedule

All full-time and part-time nurses permanent or temporary shall be provided the opportunity to flex their normal working day, provided program and agency expectations are fulfilled, under the following criteria:

(a) On a regular work day, the nurse may flex between the hours of 8:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m.

- (b) Work outside of the above hours may be, but is not required to, be flexed.
- (c) All flex adjustments are to be completed within the four (4) week flex period. Flex time off will be a maximum of seven (7) hours in a day. Other absences such as illness or vacation will be on the basis of a seven (7) hour day. The nurse has the obligation to inform the Employer when a full flex day is to be taken off.

At the end of a flex time period, the nurse is expected to have accounted for one hundred and forty (140) hours for a full-time nurse, pro-rated for part-time. In the event of a deficit, the time not accounted for will be deducted from vacation or comp time balance. Any hours in excess of 140 hours (pro-rated for part-time) will be added to the comp time balance.

- (d) A nurse intending to flex their work day, up to 7 hours, will negotiate with their team members to ensure adequate coverage of the program and other agency commitments during normal business hours. These hours are from 8:30 a.m. to 4:30 p.m.
- (e) At no time will coverage be less than that established as a minimum by the Employer without the approval of the Employer.

ARTICLE 15 - LEAVE OF ABSENCE

- All applications for a leave of absence, including educational leave and personal leave, with or without pay, are to be made in writing to the Program Vice President or designate. The application must include the reason or reasons for the requested leave of absence and the requested starting date of the leave of absence and the proposed date to return to work. Such leave shall not be unreasonably denied.
 - (a) the Program Vice President or designate may approve such application.
 - (b) All requests will be replied to in writing by the Program Vice President or designate.
 - (c) LTD and Life insurance benefits are suspended for any period of unpaid leave of absence per the contract agreement between the benefit carrier and the employer. A nurse may elect to continue major medical and dental coverage provided the nurse pays the applicable monthly premiums.

- The Employer will grant to all permanent and temporary nurses, Bereavement Leave of Absence in accordance with the following principles:
 - (a) In the event of the death of a member of the nurse's family, that is, spouse, ex-spouse, children/step children, parents, step parents, siblings, step sibling, mother/father-in-law, sister/brother-in-law, grandparents/grandparent-in-law, grandchildren/ step grandchildren or significant person permanently residing in the employee's household, the Employer will grant a total of five (5) days Leave of Absence with pay generally taken consecutively. This will be prorated for part time nurses.
 - (b) In the event of the death of a nurse's relative other than in (a), the Employer will grant one (1) day Leave of Absence with pay.
 - (c) In the event of the death of a significant person other than in (a) above, the Employer will grant the nurse one-half (½) day paid leave to attend a funeral or other service.
 - (d) Bereavement leave will not be paid in addition to any other allowable pay for the same day, such as holiday pay, sick pay, etc. The only exception to this will be when a death occurs in the family while a nurse is on vacation, in which case, additional vacation days may be granted to compensate for those days used as bereavement leave.
- A nurse who is the parent of a child is entitled to a leave of absence without pay following the birth of their child for a period of up to seventy-eight (78) weeks. This leave of absence will include seventeen (17) weeks pregnancy leave and up to sixty-one (61) weeks of parental leave (parental leave ends 61 weeks after it began, if the employee also took pregnancy leave, and 63 weeks after it began, otherwise) under the following terms and conditions:
 - (a) Application must be made in writing to the Employer and include starting date and return date.
 - (b) Seniority will continue to accumulate per Article 11.
 - (c) The nurse will return to their former position on expiration of their leave of absence.
 - (d) The nurse must make known in writing at least four (4) weeks prior to the expiration date of their leave of absence of their intentions of returning to work. The Employer shall immediately respond to this letter. A nurse may request an earlier return from their leave with thirty (30) calendar days' notice.

- (e) All group benefits for which the Employer is responsible will be continued for the duration the nurse is on pregnancy leave and parental leave up to a maximum of seventy-eight (78) weeks.
- A nurse is entitled to a leave of absence without pay for the coming of a child into the employee's custody, care and control for the first time. Leave of absence without pay, for adoption, for a period up to sixty-three (63) weeks will be given to nurses. This will constitute sixty-three (63) weeks parental leave of absence without pay under the following terms and conditions:
 - (a) Application must be made in writing to the Employer or designate and include starting date and return date.
 - (b) Seniority will continue to accumulate per Article 11.
 - (c) The nurse will return to their former position on expiration of their leave of absence.
 - (d) The nurse must make known in writing at least four (4) weeks prior to the expiration date of their leave of absence of their intentions of returning to work. The Employer shall immediately respond to this letter. A nurse may request an earlier return from their leave with thirty (30) calendar days' notice.
 - (e) All group benefits for which the Employer is responsible will be continued for the duration of the adoption leave up to a maximum of sixty- three (63) weeks of parental leave.
- 15.05 A nurse entitled to benefits, who is on Pregnancy leave as provided under this Agreement who has applied for and is in receipt of Employment Insurance benefits pursuant to the Employment Insurance Act, shall be paid a supplemental employment benefit (SEB). That benefit will be equivalent to the difference between seventy-five (75%) of their regular weekly earnings and the sum of their weekly Employment Insurance (EI) benefits and any other earnings. During the one (1) week waiting period prior to the nurse's receipt of 15 weeks of El Pregnancy leave benefits, a nurse who is entitled to EI benefits will be paid seventy-five percent (75%) of their regular earnings. Payment of the SEB top up shall commence upon receipt by the Health Unit of the nurse's El cheque stub as proof that they are in receipt of El pregnancy leave benefits, and shall continue while the nurse is in receipt of such benefits to a maximum of fifteen (15) weeks. The nurse's regular weekly earnings shall be determined by the EI formula then currently in effect. The employee does not have any vested right except to receive payments for the covered unemployment period. The Plan provides that payments in respect of guaranteed annual remuneration or in respect of

- deferred remuneration or severance pay benefits are not reduced or increased by payments received under the Plan.
- (b) A nurse entitled to benefits, who is on Parental leave or Adoption leave as provided under this Agreement for 61 weeks after it began, if the employee also took pregnancy leave, or 63 weeks after it began otherwise, who has applied for and is in receipt of Employment Insurance benefits pursuant to the Employment Insurance Act, shall be paid a supplemental employment benefit (SEB). That benefit will be equivalent to the difference between seventy-five (75%) of their regular weekly earnings and the sum of their weekly Employment Insurance (EI) benefits and any other earnings. During a one (1) week waiting period, a nurse who is entitled to EI benefits will be paid seventy-five percent (75%) of their regular earnings. Payment of the SEB top up shall commence upon receipt by the Health Unit of the nurse's El cheque stub as proof that they are in receipt of El parental leave benefits, and shall continue while the nurse is in receipt of such benefits to either a maximum of thirty five (35) weeks if the nurse also took a Pregnancy Leave in (a) above or to a maximum of fifty (50) weeks if the nurse did not take a Pregnancy Leave in (a) above. The nurse's regular weekly earnings shall be determined by the EI formula then currently in effect. The employee does not have any vested right except to receive payments for the covered unemployment period. The Plan provides that payments in respect of guaranteed annual remuneration or in respect of deferred remuneration or severance pay benefits are not reduced or increased by payments received under the Plan.

15.06 Union Leave

- (a) Leave of Absence without pay to attend to Union business will be granted to a maximum of fifty (50) working days per year in total for the whole Union provided a written request has been received by the Employer at least two (2) days in advance. During such leave of absence the nurse's salary shall be maintained by the Employer and the Local Union agrees to reimburse the Employer in the amount of the full cost of such salary. The Employer will bill the Local Union within a reasonable period of time.
- (b) Should the Local Co-ordinator be an employee of the Employer they shall be provided with the required leave of absence days to perform that function and the days required shall be included in the collective days specified in (a) and subject to the same reimbursement provisions.
- (c) The Bargaining Unit President shall receive one (1) employer paid day per month to conduct union business.

15.07 <u>Leave of Absence for nurses on the Board of Directors and/or nurses who</u> are elected to Provincial Committees of the Ontario Nurses' Association

A nurse who is elected to the Board of Directors and/or nurses who are elected to provincial committees of the Ontario Nurses' Association other than to the office of President shall be granted leave of absence without pay up to a total of fifty (50) days annually. Such leave of absence to be given on receiving ten (10) days written notice to the Employer. There shall be no loss of seniority or credits for the purpose of salary advancement and vacation entitlement or other purposes during such leaves of absence. Leave of Absence for Board members of the Ontario Nurses' Association will be separate from the Union Leave provided in part 15.06 above.

15.08 Leave of Absence for the President of the Ontario Nurses' Association

A nurse who is elected to the office of President of the Ontario Nurses' Association shall be granted upon request leave(s) of absence without loss of seniority and benefits up to two (2) years. During such leaves of absence salary and benefits will be kept whole by the Employer and the Union agrees to reimburse the Employer for all costs related to salary and all benefits accruing to an employee whatsoever. (i.e. vacation, pension contributions, medical, statutory holidays, sick leave, insurance, etc.)

- 15.09 It is understood and agreed that the combined provisions of 15.07 and 15.08 shall apply to only one (1) employee in any one (1) given contract year.
- 15.10 Leave of absence with pay to allow a nurse to write the required examination on completion of a course of study relevant to the profession.

15.11 Pre-Paid Leave Plan

The Employer agrees to introduce a pre-paid leave program, funded solely by the nurse, available to those nurses who fall under the definitions in Articles 3.01 and 3.02 and subject to the following terms and conditions:

- (a) The plan is available to nurses wishing to spread four (4) years' salary over a five (5) year period, in accordance with Part LXVIII of the Income Tax Regulations, Section 6801, to enable them to take a one (1) year leave of absence following the four (4) years of salary deferral.
- (b) The nurse must make written application to the Employer at least six (6) months prior to the intended commencement date of the program (i.e. the salary deferral portion), stating the intended purpose of the leave.

- (c) The year for purposes of the program shall be September 1st of one year to August 31st of the following year or such other twelve (12) month period as may be agreed upon by the nurse, the Union, and the Employer. Only one nurse from each Program Service area will be allowed off at one time.
- (d) Written applications will be reviewed by the Employer. Leaves requested for the purpose of pursuing further formal nursing education will be given priority. Applications for leaves requested for other purposes will be given the next level of priority on the basis of seniority.
- (e) During the four (4) years of salary deferral, 20% of the nurse's gross annual earnings will be deducted and held for the nurse and will not be accessible to them until the year of the leave or upon withdrawal from the plan.
- (f) The manner in which the deferred salary is held shall be at the discretion of the Employer.
- (g) All deferred salary shall be paid to the nurse at the commencement of the leave or in accordance with such other payment schedule as may be agreed upon between the Employer and the nurse.
- (h) All benefits shall be kept whole during the four (4) years of salary deferral. During the year of the leave, seniority will accumulate. Service for the purpose of vacation and salary progression and other benefits will be retained but will not accumulate during the period of leave. Nurses shall remain in the extended health and dental benefit plans during the year of leave, and the Employer will continue to pay the appropriate premiums. Contributions to the Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement System will be in accordance with the Plan. Nurses will not be eligible to participate in the Life or LTD benefits coverage.
- (i) A nurse may withdraw from the plan at any time during the deferral portion provided three (3) months' notice is given to the Employer. Deferred salary, if any, will be returned to the nurse, within a reasonable period of time.
- (j) If the nurse terminates employment, the deferred salary held by the Employer, if any, will be returned to the nurse within a reasonable period of time. In case of the nurse's death, the funds will be paid to the nurse's estate.
- (k) The Employer will endeavour to find a temporary replacement for the nurse as far in advance as practicable. If the Employer is unable to

find a suitable replacement, it may postpone the leave. The Employer will give the nurse as much notice as is reasonably possible. The nurse will have the option of remaining in the Plan and re-arranging the leave at a mutually agreeable time, or of withdrawing from the Plan and having the deferred salary paid out to the nurse within a reasonable period of time.

- (I) The nurse will be reinstated to their former position unless the position has been discontinued, in which case the nurse shall be given a comparable job.
- (m) Final approval for entry into the pre-paid leave program will be subject to the nurse entering into a formal agreement with the Employer in order to authorize the employer to make the appropriate deductions from the nurse's pay. Such agreement will include:
 - A statement that the nurse is entering the pre-paid leave program in accordance with Article 15.11 of the Collective Agreement.
 - ii) The period of salary deferral and the period for which the leave is requested.
 - iii) The manner in which the deferred salary is held.

The letter of application from the nurse to the Employer to enter the pre-paid leave program will be appended to and form part of the written agreement.

15.12 Family Medical Leave

Nurses will be granted compassionate leave, without loss of service and seniority, as per the *Employment Standards Act 2000* as amended from time to time.

A nurse entitled to benefits, who is on compassionate leave as provided under this Agreement who has applied for and is in receipt of Employment Insurance benefits pursuant to Sections 18 and/or 20 of the *Employment Insurance Act*, shall be paid a supplemental employment benefit. That benefit will be equivalent to the difference between seventy-five (75%) of their regular weekly earnings and the sum of their weekly Employment Insurance (EI) benefits and any other earnings. During the two (2) week waiting period, a nurse who is entitled to benefits will be paid seventy-five percent (75%) of their regular earnings. Payment of the top-up shall commence upon receipt by the Health Unit of the nurse's EI cheque stub as proof that they are in receipt of EI compassionate leave benefits. The nurse's

regular weekly earnings shall be determined by the EI formula then currently in effect. The employee does not have any vested right except to receive payments for the covered unemployment period. The Plan provides that payments in respect of guaranteed annual remuneration or in respect of deferred remuneration or severance pay benefits are not reduced or increased by payments received under the Plan.

<u>ARTICLE 16 – PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT AND EDUCATIONAL PROGRAM</u>

Nurses shall have the opportunity for professional growth through programs designed to assist the individual to function more effectively.

These shall include:

- (a) an orientation program for new nurses and nurses transferring to new programs.
- (b) An in-service educational program averaging at least five (5) days per year for nurses. Casual nurses are to attend in-service days that are directly applicable to their employment with the Employer. Nurses employed by the Employer, but not given the opportunity to attend the in-service days with pay, may attend but will not be paid by the Employer.
- (c) Attendance at conventions, conferences and education courses.

Employees may attend such conventions, conferences and educational courses as are approved by the Employer. The Employer shall reimburse the employee for approved registration fees and approved expenses. The actual number of nurses and duration of attendance is to be subject to the approval of the Employer.

Employees may request a leave with or without pay to attend courses that have not been approved for payment of expenses by the Employer. Such approval shall be at the discretion of the Employer.

(d) Up to a maximum of twenty (20) nurses in total who are members of the Registered Nurses' Association of Ontario (R.N.A.O.) or Canadian Nurses' Association will be permitted to attend, either annual meeting of the respective Associations to a minimum of one (1) day per year, without loss of salary.

In addition, a nurse who holds an official unpaid position with the Registered Nurses' Association of Ontario (R.N.A.O.) or Canadian

- Nurses' Association (C.N.A.) will be provided with leave of absence, without loss of salary or seniority, to attend to their official duties, of up to five (5) days per year.
- (e) Time within the working day for preparation for education programs conducted by the nurse and for reading educational material pertinent to the profession.
- (f) For any nurses interested, pay at regular salary rate for a basic cardiopulmonary resuscitation course which would not exceed two (2) days for initial certification and up to one (1) day per year thereafter for re-certification. The employer will pay the costs of such courses if required to meet the minimum level of trained personnel in each office.

<u>ARTICLE 17 – SALARIES AND PROFESSIONAL CLASSIFICATION</u>

- 17.01 Salaries and professional classifications are set forth in Schedule "A" and remain in effect for the duration of this Agreement.
- When duties of a position covered by this Agreement are changed or when a new position appropriately covered by this Agreement is established, the salary shall be negotiated; if the parties are unable to agree, such dispute may be submitted to arbitration. The salary shall be retroactive to the date the position was first established and filled.
- A nurse who assumes any part of the supervisory duties relative to program staff within the Health Unit normally performed by a Program Manager or Program Supervisor as assigned by the Program Vice President in writing, shall be paid a responsibility allowance of sixteen dollars and eighty cents (\$16.80) per day.
- When a nurse employed in one (1) classification is promoted to a higher classification, they will retain their vested right to the salary of their former classification and will be placed in the salary step of the new classification which is the next one greater than their former salary.
- 17.05 Salary increments as outlined in the salary Schedule "A" shall be granted under the following conditions:
 - (a) completion of eighteen hundred and twenty (1820) hours continuous employment in the full-time category; however, if a nurse's absence without pay exceeds thirty (30) continuous calendar days, they will not accumulate service for the purpose of obtaining their increment for the period of the absence in excess of thirty (30) continuous calendar days.

- (b) completion of one thousand six hundred and three (1,603) paid hours for a part-time or casual nurse.
- 17.06 Public Health Nurses with previous public health nursing experience in an Official Public Health Agency, will be recognized on the following basis:
 - (a) One (1) increment for every one full time year which is equivalent to eighteen hundred and twenty (1820) hours.
- 17.07 Nurses hired into the Registered Nurse position and Nurse Practitioners with previous nursing experience, will be recognized on the following basis:

One (1) increment for every one full time year based on eighteen hundred and twenty (1820) hours per year.

17.08 Claim for related experience, if any, shall be made in writing by the nurse at the time of hiring on the application for employment or otherwise. Once established consistent with this provision, credit for related experience will be retroactive to the nurse's date of hire. The nurse shall cooperate with the Health Unit by providing verification of previous experience from their previous employers so that their related experience may be determined and evaluated during their probationary period. As such the nurse will have six (6) months from their date of hire to submit their verification of hours. Having established the related experience, the Health Unit will credit a new nurse with previous experience in accordance with Articles 17.06 and 17.07.

ARTICLE 18 – PAID HOLIDAYS

18.01 The following shall be recognized as holidays to be paid for at regular salaries:

New Year's Day Family Day Good Friday Easter Monday Victoria Day Canada Day (July 1st) Civic Holiday
Labour Day
Thanksgiving Day

Remembrance Day
Christmas Day
Boxing Day

National Day of Truth and Reconciliation

All permanent nurses will be entitled to one Float Day per year to be taken at a time mutually agreed by the employer and the nurse.

18.02 If a holiday, excluding the float day, listed above is proclaimed on a day other than the calendar day, the proclaimed day will be recognized as the holiday. Any other day proclaimed as a holiday by Federal or Provincial

governments shall be recognized as an additional holiday. If a holiday listed above falls on a non-working day, this holiday will be granted on the next following work day with the exception of Remembrance Day. In the event that Remembrance Day falls on a Saturday or Sunday, the Employer will not be closed on the next following work day, and permanent nurses will be granted a day off in lieu to be taken at the mutual agreement of the person to whom they report directly and the nurse as per Article 18.03.

Casual and temporary nurses will receive pay in lieu, calculated as per Article 18.04.

- 18.03 The Float Day is to be taken at a mutually agreeable time but no later than December 31st of each year.
- 18.04 (a) Part-time nurses shall be entitled to holidays and paid for at their regular salary rates as detailed in Article 18.01 during their month of employment if the paid holiday is their scheduled regular day of work. If the paid holiday falls on a day of rest, part-time employees can opt for an alternate day off in lieu of the Statutory Holiday. The alternate day off will be taken no later than 3 months following the actual date the Statutory holiday was observed and will be granted at mutually agreeable time between the employee and the person to whom they report directly. An employee will not be granted permission to take an alternate day off in lieu of the Statutory Holiday in advance of the actual date of the Statutory Holiday occurring.
 - (b) Temporary and Casual nurses will be entitled to the paid holiday provisions of (a) provided they work their regularly scheduled day of work before or after the statutory holiday. If the holiday falls on the regular day of work, the employee will receive statutory pay equal to the number of hired hours of work for the day (maximum seven (7) hours). If the holiday falls on a non working day for the employee, the employee will be entitled to paid holiday as follows:
 - add all of the hours the employee was paid for in the four (4) work weeks preceding the work week in which the paid holiday occurs
 - ii) divide this sum by twenty (20) and enter the number of hours in the Stat Holiday Column of the timesheet
- In the event that a nurse is scheduled to work on any of the named holidays in Article 18.01 and works on that holiday, they shall be paid their regular rate and an additional amount one and one-half (1½) times their regular rate. If a nurse does not work their full day on a holiday, they shall be paid at the above rate for a minimum of four (4) hours or the hours worked, whichever is greater.

18.06 If statutory holidays fall within sick time or vacation time, they will be credited to the respective entitlement.

ARTICLE 19 – VACATION

- 19.01 The parties agree to ensure that any former Muskoka employee who is currently at a superior accumulation rate will remain red-circled until such time as the rates of accumulation in this Article become superior.
- 19.02 Permanent nurses, who have completed less than one (1) year continuous service as a permanent employee as of December 31st of any year, shall receive vacation on the basis of one and one-quarter (1.25) days per month of service up to a maximum of fifteen (15) working days. Full-time nurses, who have been employed for one (1) year but less than three (3) continuous years shall be entitled to a vacation of fifteen (15) working days with pay for each full year of employment.
- 19.03 Permanent nurses who have been employed for three (3) continuous years but less than twelve (12) years shall be entitled to a vacation of twenty (20) working days with pay for each full year of employment.
- 19.04 Permanent nurses who have been employed twelve (12) continuous years with this Health Unit shall be entitled to a vacation of twenty-five (25) working days with pay.
- 19.05 Permanent nurses who have been employed twenty-two (22) continuous years with this Health Unit shall be entitled to a vacation of thirty (30) working days with pay.
- 19.06 Effective January 1, 2015, permanent nurses who have been employed twenty-five (25) continuous years with this Health Unit shall be entitled to a vacation of thirty-five (35) working days with pay.
- 19.07 The current practice of permitting vacation to be taken prior to being earned, provided there is sufficient unpaid salary and benefits to cover the unearned vacation, shall be continued. Vacation time must be taken by December 31st of each year subject to Article 19.11.
- 19.08 Permanent Part-time nurses will be entitled to a similar vacation on a prorated basis, based on hired or officially employed full-time equivalent. Nurses who have worked additional hours beyond their hired or official full-time equivalent will be paid a six percent (6%) premium in lieu of vacation credits for such additional hours. Entitlement will be calculated as it occurs and will be paid bi-weekly.

- 19.09 (a) For the purpose of establishing vacation entitlement under Article 19, all permanent nurses shall be credited with one (1) full year of service for every year worked.
 - (b) Casual and temporary nurses who transfer to permanent status will have a service date established by using the following formula:
 - All hours credited since date of hire divided by 1603 hours
 - Once established, credit towards vacation entitlement will be earned in accordance with Article 19.09 (a).
 - (c) The calculation of the service date under Article 19.09 (b) shall be effective January 1, 2007 subject to the following:
 - any permanent nurse whose 2006 vacation entitlement is or was calculated in error shall not be subject to any clawback of entitlement for 2006.
 - ii) members whose service date is calculated as per Article 19.09 (b) shall only be entitled to use this service date for the calculation of vacation entitlement from January 1, 2007 onward and not for any period prior to January 1, 2007.
 - iii) Members wishing to have a service date established under Article 19.09 (b) shall make this request in writing within six (6) months of the ratification of this agreement.
- 19.10 When a nurse's employment is terminated for any reason, they shall be entitled to a terminal vacation allowance covering vacation earned but not taken.
- 19.11 Vacations shall be taken at a mutually agreeable time to the nurse and Program Vice President or their designate subject to the following conditions.
 - (a) Nurses' requests for vacation time during the months of June, July, or August and up to and including Labour Day in September, must be submitted by April 15th of each year and reply shall be given by May 1st.
 - (b) Nurses' requests for vacation time at Christmas/New Years must be submitted by September 15th of each year and a reply shall be given by September 30th. Requests for vacation during the school March Break must be submitted by December 1st of the previous year and a reply shall be given by December 15th.

- (c) Nurses' requests for vacation other than as provided in Section (a) and (b) shall be considered on a first come first serve basis.
- (d) The principle of seniority shall govern in cases of conflict.
- (e) All nurses shall be entitled to a minimum of two (2) weeks' vacation during the months of July and August.
- Nurses may carry over a portion not to exceed one-half (½) of vacation entitlement to the following year. Nurses hired between October 1st and December 31st of the current year will have their remaining vacation balance as of December 31st carried over to the following year. The carry over must be taken by June 30th of the following year.
- 19.13 Article 19.12 does not apply to vacation earned while a nurse is on pregnancy or parenting leave. This vacation may be taken in advance of the pregnancy or parenting period or prior to returning back to work after the expiration of the pregnancy or parental leave taken under the Letter of Understanding on Pregnancy and Parental Leave. This may also, with mutual consent of the Employer, be used to work reduced hours prior to the nurse returning to their regularly hired FTE. Vacation time earned while on parental leave, if not used as per this Article, will be paid out in full within two (2) weeks of the nurse's return to work.

ARTICLE 20 – SICK LEAVE

- 20.01 The Employer will assume total responsibility for providing and funding a Short-Term Sick Leave Plan for nurses entitled to benefits under Article 21.02 of this agreement.
- 20.02 Permanent full-time nurses will accumulate illness allowance on the basis of one and one-half (1½) working days with salary for each month of service or its equivalent to a maximum of one hundred and ten (110) days.

Permanent part-time nurses who are hired at a 0.5 FTE or greater will be entitled to a similar accumulation of illness allowance on a pro-rata basis, based on hired FTE.

20.03 Illness allowance credits continue to accrue for all nurses on the basis referred to in 20.02 for nurses, except the method for determination of the allowance allowed for the accumulation of illness allowance credits for time wherein the nurse actually is absent due to an illness shall be as follows:

A) <u>Full Time Nurses</u>

(a) from one (1) to ten (10) working days only, full monthly credit allowed

- (b) from eleven (11) to twenty (20) working days only, one-half (½) of monthly credit allowed
- (b) from twenty-one (21) working days and over, no monthly credits allowed for full term of illness as defined herein.

B) Part Time Nurses

Part -time nurses who are hired at a 0.5 FTE or greater will be entitled, to a similar accumulation of illness allowance on a pro-rata basis, based on hired FTE.

- After being absent due to illness, for three (3) consecutive days, the Employer may require the nurse's physician or Nurse Practitioner to complete an Attending Health Care Provider's Statement, at the Employer's expense, verifying the nurse's inability to return to work. When a nurse must reduce their work week due to illness, the Employer will require either the nurse's physician or Nurse Practitioner to complete an Attending Health Care Provider's statement to ascertain the type of work that may be assigned and the length of the reduced work schedule. This information may be shared with the insurance broker to assist in the rehabilitation process.
- Full salary shall be continued for an absence caused by sickness, accident or hospitalization, until the nurse has exhausted their accumulated sick leave credits subject to verification requested in Article 20.04. Thereafter, the nurse shall receive seventy-five percent (75%) of full salary for continued absence. Payment under this provision shall not exceed seventeen (17) weeks per occurrence.
- A nurse who is unable to return to work after seventeen (17) weeks will apply for enrolment under the LTD plan in effect at the time. If approved the nurse will receive seventy-five percent (75%) of full salary under provisions of the plan. When a nurse is fit to return to work from LTD, they will provide a doctor's statement, at the Employer's expense, verifying their ability to perform their job duties. If a nurse who has returned to work is required to be off again within six (6) months of returning, then medical documentation will be required to ascertain if this is a new or concurrent illness.
- 20.07 Illness due to pregnancy will be covered by the short-term sick leave plan except when the nurse is in receipt of pregnancy and parenting leave benefits from E.I. When a nurse is ill due to pregnancy, the Employer will require the nurse's physician to complete an attending physician's statement, at the Employer's expense, confirming the illness. After delivery

of the baby, the nurse is responsible to notify the Employer should their illness continue past the delivery date.

- 20.08 The Employer shall continue to pay the premiums for benefit plans for nurses who are on pregnancy, parental and adoption leave, nurses on paid leave of absence, Family Medical Leave and sick leave benefits. For nurses who are on Workplace Safety and Insurance Board or L.T.D. benefits will be paid for a period of up to one (1) year.
 - (a) After one year the employer will pay the extended health and dental premiums at the single rate. Nurses who wish to maintain family coverage may do so provided they pay the additional premium.
- 20.09 Nurses on benefits will be permitted to use up to a maximum of seven (7) days of sick leave credits per year to provide care to the nurse's family. This provision will be pro-rated for part-time staff based on their hired FTE.

Family is defined as an individual who relies on the nurse for their care.

20.10 Time off for medical appointments may be allowed by the Employer. This time will be classed as sick leave and deducted from the nurse's sick leave balance as appropriate.

ARTICLE 21 - BENEFITS

21.01 Pensions

Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement System (OMERS) where applicable, and Canada Pension (CPP) shall apply to the nurses covered by this agreement in accordance with the terms and conditions applicable to the Employer. Nurses may retire as set out in OMERS.

21.02 The Employer will provide an extended health plan, long term disability plan, vision care plan, dental plan and life insurance and Accidental Death and Dismemberment benefits pursuant to Schedule B.

The reimbursement of the dental plan claims will be at the current ODA rate, less two (2) years. The Employer will pay one hundred percent (100%) of the billed premiums for all benefit plans for staff hired at .5 FTE or greater. For permanent staff hired at less than .5 FTE the Employer will pay 13 % in lieu of benefits if the nurse is not enrolled in OMERS and 9% in lieu if the nurse is enrolled in OMERS.

Temporary nurses will receive twelve (12%) percent in lieu of vacation and benefits. Should any temporary nurse enrol in the OMERS pension plan while receiving percentage in lieu they will have their percentage reduced

to eight (8%) in lieu effective the first pay period of pension contributions following the date of ratification.

The Employer may replace any of the plans with a comparable or better plan, provided the Union is consulted prior to the change. The Employer will not change any aspects of the benefit plans without the agreement of the Union.

The Employer shall provide through its carrier, the option for nurses to purchase additional life insurance for themselves and their spouses, in \$10,000.00 increments, to a maximum of \$300,000.00, fully paid by the nurse. Such additional insurance shall be at a reduced group rate.

21.03 Workplace Safety and Insurance Board

The Employer shall provide coverage for nurses under the *Workplace Safety and Insurance Act.*

- If a nurse is entitled to receive WSIB benefits, they may choose to turn over to the Employer all monies received for such benefit, in which case the Employer will continue to pay said nurse full salary, taking the difference between benefit payment and full salary from the nurse's accumulated illness allowance credit until such credit is exhausted, after which time the nurse will receive only WSIB benefits.
- 21.05 The Employer shall provide all nurses in its employ with copies of their benefits.
- 21.06 The Employer agrees that part-time nurses may pay, through payroll deductions, for full premium costs of the ONA sponsored benefit program, provided that the Employer's systems can accommodate this. The ONA sponsored benefit plan will provide the Employer with an administrative rebate, if any.

The employer will make no payroll deductions for such benefits in months in which the nurse has insufficient earnings. In this circumstance, the nurse is responsible for making the full payment to the ONA sponsored benefit plan.

The parties agree to give the Employer appropriate time to establish the payroll deduction process. Once established the payroll deduction process for part-time benefits through the ONA sponsored program will be communicated to the Union and the part-time nurses. The Employer will facilitate access to part-time nurses by providing available benefit literature and other communications as appropriate.

21.07 Casual nurses shall be entitled to a vacation allowance of six percent (6%) of all pay earned during the year.

ARTICLE 22 – TRANSPORTATION

22.01 (a) The Employer agrees to reimburse the nurse for the use of their personal vehicle for health unit business by paying three (3) cents below the Revenue Canada reasonable maximum mileage reimbursement as published annually for all kilometres driven.

Should the rate change, the Employer will notify the bargaining unit accordingly.

In exceptional circumstances the Employer may provide a leased vehicle upon the request of the nurse, each case to be judged on its own merit.

<u>NOTE</u>: The Employer will complete any necessary forms for tax purposes.

- (b) Travel reimbursement for travel for health unit business shall be as follows: Total health unit business kilometres travelled per day of work less the kilometres of one (1) round trip back and forth per day to a Nurse's assigned SMDHU branch office or clinic from their home.
- A nurse, requested by the Employer, to work out of an office other than their assigned office will be compensated for the time and distance travelled to the new area of employment. The Employer is to see that this is on a temporary basis only.
- 22.03 Salary and transportation allowance will be paid to nurses to allow attendance at staff education approved by the Employer.

ARTICLE 23 – MISCELLANEOUS

23.01 <u>Malpractice Insurance</u>

The Employer will provide malpractice insurance coverage in accordance with the terms and conditions of the existing contracts of insurance and subject to the limitations therein.

23.02 Where laboratory coats are required in any area, they shall be provided and laundered by the Employer.

- 23.03 Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit (SMDHU) nurses are required to be a member of the College of Nurses of Ontario (CNO) and pay the applicable annual registration fees to the CNO annually. SMDHU nurses must renew their membership by the annual deadline as set out by the CNO. SMDHU will verify a nurse's registration status before the end of February via the College of Nurses of Ontario website.
- 23.04 The Employer shall provide one bulletin board per office for the sole use of the Union.
- 23.05 All nurses will receive their pay through direct bank deposits. Earning statements will be distributed through e-mail.
- Subject to the agreement of the affected nurse, in the event that there is an error on a nurse's timesheet that would result in an over or under payment, Human Resources has the authority to correct the error. Human Resources will advise the nurse and the appropriate manager of the action taken.

23.07 MODIFIED WORK

- (a) The Employer will provide the Bargaining Unit President (BUP) copies of acceptance hire letters and notify the BUP of transfers, LTD leaves, sick leaves when a staff is off more than five (5) working days, and WSIB leaves when an employee has had a lost time injury extending past the first day, all of which will be provided in and around the time when the event occurs.
- (b) The parties agree to meet once every three (3) months at a mutually agreeable time to go over the LTD leaves, sick leaves and WSIB leaves shared in (a). The parties recognize that sometimes there simply may be no need to meet depending on what has occurred in the previous three (3) months. If so, HR will discuss this situation with the Bargaining Unit President at that time to determine if a meeting is still required.
- (c) The Employer agrees to provide the employee with a copy of the Workplace Safety and Insurance Board's Form 7 at the same time as it is sent to the Workplace Safety and Insurance Board.

ARTICLE 24 – COURT ATTENDANCE

24.01 <u>Jury and Witness Duty</u>

If a nurse is required to serve on a jury panel or as a juror in any court of law or is required to attend as a witness in a court proceeding in which the Crown is a party, or as a witness at a hearing of the College of Nurses of Ontario, or is required by subpoena to attend a court of law or Coroner's Inquest in connection with a case arising from the nurse's duties at the Health Unit, the nurse shall not lose regular pay because of such attendance provided that the nurse:

- (a) notifies the Employer immediately upon notification that they will be required to attend at the hearings referred to herein.
- (b) presents proof of service to the Employer requiring such attendance.
- (c) deposits with the Employer an official receipt when available covering the full amount of the compensation received, excluding mileage, travelling, and meal allowance.

ARTICLE 25 – DURATION OF AGREEMENT

- 25.01 This Agreement shall be for a period commencing on the 1st day of January 2023 and ending on the 31st day of December, 2025.
- This Agreement shall remain in force for the period mentioned above and shall be automatically renewed from year to year thereafter, unless either party notifies the other party in writing of its termination or proposed revision, addition or deletion of any of its provisions. Such notification will be made not more than ninety (90) days prior to the termination date of this Agreement.
- 25.03 Negotiation with respect to renewal of the Agreement shall commence within fifteen (15) days of such notice, or within such period of time as mutually agreed to by the parties.

SCHEDULE "A"

SALARY SCHEDULE

THIS SALARY SCHEDULE MAY BE AMENDED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PAY EQUITY PLAN FOR THE SIMCOE MUSKOKA DISTRICT HEALTH UNIT AND THE ONTARIO NURSES' ASSOCIATION.

Public Health Nurse		Jan. 1, 2022	Jan. 1, 2023	Jan. 1, 2024	Jan. 1, 2025
Year 1	Hourly	\$42.55	\$43.61	\$44.48	\$45.37
Year 2	Hourly	\$43.80	\$44.90	\$45.80	\$46.72
Year 3	Hourly	\$44.91	\$46.03	\$46.95	\$47.89
Year 4	Hourly	\$46.90	\$48.07	\$49.03	\$50.01
Year 5	Hourly	\$48.04	\$49.24	\$50.22	\$51.22
Year 6	Hourly	\$50.77	\$52.04	\$53.08	\$54.14
Registered Nurse		Jan. 1, 2022	Jan. 1, 2023	Jan. 1, 2024	Jan. 1, 2025
Year 1	Hourly	\$40.19	\$41.19	\$42.01	\$42.85
Year 2	Hourly	\$41.36	\$42.39	\$43.24	\$44.10
Year 3	Hourly	\$42.47	\$43.53	\$44.40	\$45.29
Year 4	Hourly	\$44.45	\$45.56	\$46.47	\$47.40
Year 5	Hourly	\$45.60	\$46.74	\$47.67	\$48.62
Year 6	Hourly	\$48.25	\$49.46	\$50.45	\$51.46
Nurse Practitioner		Jan. 1, 2022	Jan. 1, 2023	Jan. 1, 2024	Jan. 1, 2025
Year 1	Hourly	\$55.79	\$57.18	\$58.32	\$59.49
Year 2	Hourly	\$57.44	\$58.88	\$60.06	\$61.26
Year 3	Hourly	\$59.14	\$60.62	\$61.83	\$63.07
Year 4	Hourly	\$60.87	\$62.39	\$63.64	\$64.91
Year 5	Hourly	\$62.69	\$64.26	\$65.55	\$66.86
Year 6	Hourly	\$64.55	\$66.16	\$67.48	\$68.83

SCHEDULE "B"

BENEFITS

LIFE INSURANCE Sun Life Policy #100912 Benefit amount 2 X annual earnings Maximum \$600,000 Non-Evidence Maximum \$600,000 Reduction 50% at age 65 Termination age 70 or earlier of retirement **Industrial Alliance Pacific - Policy 119-3788** AD&D Benefit amount 1 x annual earnings Maximum \$500,000 Reduction 50% at age 65 Termination age 70 or earlier of retirement

OPTIONAL LIFESun Life Policy #100912Benefit amountUnits of \$10,000Maximum\$300,000Employee & SpousalYesTermination age65

LONG TERM DISABILITY Sun life Policy #100912 Benefit Amount 75% of monthly earnings Maximum \$10,000 Non-Evidence Maximum \$10,000 Elimination Period 120 days Maximum Benefit Period Age 65 **Definition of Disability** 24 months Own Occupation **Pre-Existing Condition Clause Applies** Yes (3/12)

Taxability Taxable
Termination age Yes (3/12)

EXTENDED HEALTH CARE

Deductible

Sun Life Policy #100912

No Deductible

Reimbursement 100%
Overall Maximum Unlimited
Waiting Period None

Dependent Eligibility 21; 25 if in full time attendance at school

Survivor Benefit 3 months

Termination age 70 or earlier of retirement

(2) years per plan member. (Includes Eye Vision Care Examinations and Laser Eye Surgery as claimable costs within the limit) Self-insured and claimable under Vision Care benefits. Eve Examinations and Laser Eve Effective June 21^{st,} 2023– coverage for eye Surgery examinations to a maximum of \$150.00 once every two (2) years. Semi Private Hospital Convalescent Hospital \$10 per day; 100 days maximum per disability Private Hospital Semi Private Drugs - Type Prescription Requiring, plus life sustaining - Drug Card - Capped Dispensing Fee \$10.00 per prescription - Deductible Included in EHC Deductible - Co-payment 100% Lesser of \$5,000 per LT, or one 12 month course of - Fertility Drugs treatment - Smoking Cessation Not a Benefit - Anti-obesity Included - Erectile Dysfunction Drugs \$100.00 maximum per calendar year \$10,000 every 12 consecutive months **Private Duty Nursing** Chiropractor/Massage Therapist/ \$1,500.00 combined maximum per calendar year Physiotherapist Osteopath \$350 per calendar year Podiatrist/Chiropodist \$350 per calendar year Speech Therapy \$350 per calendar year Naturopath (ND) \$350 per calendar year Registered Dietician (RD) \$350 per calendar year

Travel

Hearing Aids

Ambulance

Orthopaedic Shoes or Boots

Custom-Moulded Orthotics'

Medical Equip. & Supplies

Not a Benefit

\$200 per calendar year

\$600.00 per calendar year

\$750.00 per calendar year

Covered

Covered

Self-Insured, at the current rate of \$500.00 every two

Dental Sun Life Policy #100912

Benefit Preventative - 100%

Dentures and Major Restorative - 100%

Nil Deductible Maximums Preventative – Unlimited

Dentures and Major Restorative - \$1,500 per

calendar year

ODA Fee Schedule Current, less 2 years

Recall Frequency 9 months

Termination age 70 or earlier of retirement

Survivor Benefit 3 months

\$1,500.00 per calendar year (Clinical Psychologists and Psychiatric

Practitioners)

Mental Health Practitioner

Treatment included within Mental Health

APPENDIX "C"

GENERAL GUIDELINES FOR BUSINESS USE OF PRIVATE VEHICLES

- (a) The Board of Health authorizes the use of private motor vehicles for business purposes. Employees are reimbursed for the use of their vehicles by a mileage allowance which is Article 22 of the collective agreement and is considered reasonable by the Board.
- (b) All employees who use their vehicle for business purposes are encouraged to carry business insurance in addition to regular insurance coverage
- (c) The Board of Health will carry non-owned automobile insurance coverage which will indemnify the Health Unit against any claim arising from the business use of employee's vehicles. Employees are responsible for the proper care and handling of their own vehicles and are required to carry at least one- million- dollar-liability coverage.
- (d) In the event that an employee's own vehicle is in repair and unavailable, it is the employee's responsibility to secure an alternate vehicle at own cost. A request to use a health unit vehicle may be submitted and will not be denied if a vehicle is available.
- (e) Employees are encouraged to carry C.A.A.
- (f) Passengers are not permitted to be transported by employees in their private vehicles while on health unit business except for health unit purposes. Employees offering lifts to personnel outside of health unit purposes do so at their own risk.
- (g) All fines, etc, for traffic violations are the responsibility of the driver.
- (h) Submit claim for parking with receipt in format requested by the Employer.
- (i) Mileage to be submitted on a monthly basis.

APPENDIX "D"

ADMINISTRATION OF ARTICLES: 15:03; 15.04 AND 15:05

Prior to the commencement of a Parental leave a nurse shall advise the employer in writing of their choice of one of the following two EI SEB top up options:

- 1. To receive their entitled 35- or 50-week SEB top up (depending on if they did or did not take a Pregnancy Leave) over 35 or 50 continuous weeks; or
- 2. To receive their 35- or 50-week SEB top up entitlement spread over the entire period of time they are in receipt of Parental Leave Employment Insurance Benefits (EI). The total duration of which shall be either 63 weeks or 61 weeks if the nurse also took a pregnancy leave.

Should option 2 be selected, where the nurse has elected to have reduced Parental Leave Employment Insurance Benefits (EI) spread over the duration of their Parental Leave, the employers SEB top up portion shall be calculated as follows:

- Upon receipt by the employer of the Nurse's first Parental Leave Employment Insurance Benefits cheque stub, the employer will establish the amount of top up required to be equivalent to the difference between seventy-five (75%) of their regular weekly earnings and the sum of their weekly Employment Insurance (EI) benefits and any other earnings. This top up will be referred to as the Supplemental Employment Benefit (SEB);
- The employer will then take the calculated SEB and multiply it by either 35 weeks of eligibility or the 50 weeks of eligible SEB to arrive at a total gross amount of SEB to which the Nurse may be eligible for as long as they are in receipt of Parental Leave Employment Insurance Benefits. Again, this depends on whether the Nurse has already taken 15 weeks of SEB top up through a Pregnancy leave in (a) above which reduces the Nurse's top up eligibility to 35 weeks.
- To arrive at the SEB top up amount giving the Nurse the equivalent to the difference between seventy five (75%) of their regular weekly earnings and the sum of their weekly Employment Insurance (EI) benefits and any other earnings for each of the Parental Leave Employment Insurance Benefits cheque stubs the employer receives from the Nurse, the employer will divide the total gross amount of the SEB the Nurse may be eligible for by either the 63 or 61 weeks of payment. This SEB top up amount will be provided to the Nurse as long as the Nurse is in receipt of Parental Leave Employment Insurance Benefits from Employment Insurance.

The following example, using a 35-week SEB top up maximum dollar amount spread over 61 weeks where the nurse has already taken 15 weeks pregnancy leave clarifies the intent of Option 2 above:

- A Nurse's first EI cheque stub submitted is \$328.00. The required SEB is \$861.13 each week for 35 eligible weeks of SEB top up.
- To determine the amount of SEB top up payable over 61 weeks the employer multiplies the SEB of \$861.13 x 35 weeks of eligibility =\$30,139.55 which is the total gross amount of SEB top up the Nurse may be eligible for as long as the Nurse is in receipt of Parental Leave Employment Insurance Benefits from Employment Insurance.
- The \$30,139.55 is then divided by the number of weeks of Parental Leave eligibility (61 or 63). In this example 61 weeks eligibility is used as the nurse has already taken a 15-week Pregnancy Leave. The \$30,139.55 is divided by 61 weeks=\$494.09 SEB top up each week for as long as the Nurse is in receipt of Parental Leave Employment Insurance Benefits from Employment Insurance. Once the Nurse is no longer in receipt of Parental Leave Employment Insurance Benefits from Employment Insurance the SEB top up ceases and no further SEB payment(s) is owing. This would be the case for example if a nurse returned to work prior to the end of their eligible Parental leave duration.

Notwithstanding, it is further agreed that if at any time during the Nurse's Adoption Leave; Pregnancy Leave; or Parental Leave in either Options 1 of 2 above, should the Nurse's Employment Insurance Benefits cheque stub be less than their first submitted EI cheque stub the employer's SEB top up shall be capped at the amount initially calculated by the employer as the SEB top up. For clarification, as an example, this top up scenario would occur if while on Adoption, Pregnancy or Parental Leave a Nurse chooses to supplement their income while in receipt of Employment Insurance Benefits from EI. Using Parental Leave as one example;

If the Nurse chose to supplement their income during 50 continuous weeks of Parental leave by working one day per week at \$540.00, resulting in a reduced El cheque stub from \$547.00 to \$7.00, the employer's SEB would not change and would remain capped at the initial SEB top up calculation of \$642.13 per week.

LETTERS OF UNDERSTANDING

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING RE: JOB SHARING

The Union and the Employer agree that two (2) nurses can share one (1) full-time position. The Union agrees to modify specific aspects of the Collective Agreement with the understanding that:

- (a) This Letter of Understanding will be updated and changed to incorporate any amendments to the Collective Agreement made by the parties to the Collective Agreements; and
- (b) The nurses involved in the Job Sharing arrangement shall be part-time nurses and shall be covered by all provisions pertaining to part-time nurses working less than twenty (20) hours per week.
- (c) The nurses are entitled to all the terms of the Collective Agreement except those which are modified as follows:
 - i) Each job sharer will have the opportunity to apply and be considered for any job vacancies arising.
 - ii) All seniority, illness, vacation and other credits shall be retained and transferred with the job sharer if they transfer from full-time or part-time employment to a job sharing position and vice versa.
 - iii) The normal weekly hours of work for the job shared position shall be thirty-five (35) hours.
 - iv) Job sharers will determine between themselves and their Program Manager which partner will work on a scheduled day and such schedules will not be unilaterally imposed or changed by the Employer.
 - v) Job sharers may be required to cover for their partner in the event of an absence in excess of ten (10) working days but less than sixty (60) days. Job sharers are not responsible for arranging coverage for their position during an absence.
 - vi) Should one (1) partner transfer through the job posting procedure (Article 12) or terminate employment, the remaining partner shall continue to
 - work their own schedule for thirty (30) working days or any other schedule mutually agreed upon by their Program Manager and the nurse. They will revert to a full-time nurse in this position.

- vii) Job sharers will be entitled to vacation with pay as provided to parttime nurses.
- viii) The job sharers shall not be required to cover for each other during vacation.
- ix) The job sharers will on paid holidays receive one-half (½) day pay and one-half (½) day off in lieu.
- x) The job sharers will not be required to work in total more statutory holidays than would one (1) full-time nurse.
- xi) The job sharers involved will determine between themselves and their Program Manager which partner will work on scheduled paid holidays.
- xii) Each job sharer shall be entitled to annual increments on the same basis as part-time nurses.
- xiii) The job sharers and their Program Manager shall determine attendance at staff meetings. Communication of the information disseminated at staff meetings will be the responsibility of the job sharers.

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING RE: NEW GRADUATE GUARANTEE

The parties agree to the following:

- 1. Nurses hired under the New Graduate Guarantee are hired above complement to the usual staffing numbers.
- 2. The New Graduate Nurse will be considered a Temporary Nurse as per Article 3.03 of the Collective Agreement. All Articles that apply to a Temporary Nurse will apply to the New Graduate Nurse.
- 3. The New Graduate Nurse will be paid at Level 1 of the current salary grid.
- 4. The Employer will continue its practice of filling vacancies as per Article 12 of the Collective Agreement. The New Graduate Nurse will be eligible to apply to postings after twelve (12) weeks employment. The New Graduate Nurse will only be considered after all current permanent employees requests for transfer have been met.
- 5. In the event a New Graduate Nurse is successful in a job posting, they will retain

- all service and seniority for all purposes under the Collective Agreement.
- 6. The local members will assist the new hires as mentors in accordance with the employer's current practice.

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING RE: INCIDENT MANAGEMENT SYSTEM (IMS)

The Employer and the Union agree to meet within three (3) months of the date of ratification of the Collective Agreement to discuss when an IMS is initiated and any policies and/or provisions to be adopted and used when an IMS is activated. The parties will have an equal number of representatives up to four (4) members. The parties may agree to meet on an ongoing basis or not at this initial meeting.

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING RE: COMPRESSED WORK WEEK PILOT PROGRAM

The Employer and the Union agree to meet during the term of the Collective Agreement to investigate the various options for the provision of a mutually agreed Compressed Work Week for Nurses.

The parties shall attempt to reach mutual agreement on the preferred Compressed Work Week no later than September 30th, 2023. The parties could mutually agree to extend this deadline.

At the time the parties reach mutual agreement on a Compressed Work Week it shall be trialed in a pilot of two (2) separate six (6) months blocks as to its long-term feasibility in meeting the needs of the parties. Should either party be of the view the Compressed Work Week Pilot is not working or is not feasible in either of the two six (6) month trial periods, a meeting will be convened between the parties to discuss the issues. Failing resolution, the Compressed Work Week will be discontinued with at least four (4) weeks advance notice to both the other party and the Nurses participating in the pilot program.

SIGNING PAGE

Dated this	"1st"	day of	"December"	<u> ,</u> 2023.
FOR THE EMP	LOYER:		FOR THE UNION:	
<u>"Bruce Parker"</u>			"Joshua Henley" Labour Relations Officer	
"P.S"			<u>"Jodi Marie Black"</u>	
<u>"Stephanie Ros</u>	s"		<u>"Shawna Frolick"</u>	
<u>"J Fenick"</u>			<u>"Mary Bouffard"</u>	
			"Tina Lesk"	